[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet (Resources) Panel
19 June 2018
Time

5.30 pm

Public Meeting?

YES

Type of meeting

Executive

Venue

Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair
Vice-chair

Cllr Louise Miles (Lab)
Cllr Roger Lawrence (Lab)

Labour
Cllr Peter Bilson
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Hazel Malcolm
Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE
Cllr Paul Sweet
Quorum for this meeting is five Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:
Contact
Tel/Email
Address

Dereck Francis, Democratic Services
01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:
Website
Email
Tel

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk
democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 550320

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of
which are displayed in the meeting room.
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports
are not available to the public.

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interests

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS
3

Minutes of the previous meeting - 22 May 2018 (Pages 5 - 8)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record]

4

Matters arising
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes.]

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - DELEGATED TO THE CABINET (RESOURCES) PANEL)
5

Statutory Food Service Plan (Pages 9 - 56)
[To approve the annual Statutory Food Service Plan]

6

Restoration of Pennfields and Tettenhall War Memorials (Pages 57 - 62)
[To approve the facilitation of the restoration of the Pennfields and Tettenhall war
memorials]

7

Schedule of Individual Executive Decision Notices (Pages 63 - 66)
[To note the summary of open and exempt individual executive decision notices
approved by cabinet members following consultation with the relevant employees]

8

Exclusion of press and public
[To pass the following resolution:
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information on the grounds shown
below]

Part 2 - exempt items, closed to press and public
9

19 June 2018 - Procurement - Award of Contracts
for Works, Goods and Services (Pages 67 - 88)
[To award contracts for works, goods and services]

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information) Para (3)

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10

Heath Town Residential Repairs - Private
Leaseholder Update (Pages 89 - 94)
[To approve the acquisition of the private leasehold
properties on Heath Town estate]

11

Corporate Asset Management Fund - Approval of
Schemes for 2018-2019 (Pages 95 - 104)
[To approve the proposed programme of works for
2018/2019 to be funded from the Corporate Asset
Management Fund]

12

Progression of Housing Development Sites (Pages
105 - 114)
[To approve entering into Section 111 agreements with
WV Living]

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information) Para (3)
Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information) Para (3)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information) Para (3)

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 3

Cabinet (Resources) Panel
Minutes - 22 May 2018
Attendance
Members of the Cabinet (Resources) Panel
Cllr Louise Miles (Chair)
Cllr Roger Lawrence (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Peter Bilson
Cllr Hazel Malcolm
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE
Cllr Paul Sweet
Employees
Ross Cook
Dereck Francis
Keith Ireland
Tim Johnson
Andy Moran
Claire Nye
Kevin O'Keefe
David Watts

Service Director - City Environment
Democratic Services Officer
Managing Director
Deputy Managing Director/Strategic Director - Place
Director of Commercial Services
Director of Finance
Director of Governance
Director of Adult Services

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Steve Evans, Val
Gibson and Lynne Moran.

2

Declarations of interest
Councillor Louise Miles declared a non percuniary interest in Item 5 (Schedule of
Individual Executive Decision Notices) in so far as it refers to her employer, City of
Wolverhampton College. Councillor Miles also declared a non pecuniary interest in
item 10 (Disposal of Former Housing Revenue Account Land and Garage Sites) in
so far as two of the pieces of land referred to in the report fall within the ward she
represents.

3

Minutes of the previous meeting - 20 March 2018
Resolved:
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 March 2018 be approved
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

Page 5

Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4

Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

5

Schedule of Individual Executive Decision Notices
Resolved:
That the summary of open and exempt individual executive decisions approved
by the appropriate Cabinet Members following consultation with the relevant
employees be noted.

6

Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling
within the paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part 2 - exempt items, closed to press and public
7

Procurement - Award of Contracts for Works, Goods and Services
The Panel considered proposals for the award of contacts for works, goods and
services.
Resolved:
1. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for City Assets and
Housing, in consultation with the Strategic Director for Place, to approve the
award of a contract for the Supply of Gas for four years from 1 April 2019 to 31
March 2023 when the negotiation process is completed.
2. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for City Environment, in
consultation with the Strategic Director for Place, to approve the award of a
contract for Supply and Delivery of Vehicle Spares when the evaluation
process is completed.
3. That the contract for Bill Payments be awarded to Allpay Limited of Fortis Et
Fides Whitestone Business Park, Hereford HR1 3SE for a duration of two
years with an option to extend for a further two years from 1 September 2018
to 31 August 2022 for a total contract value of up to £400,000.
4. That the Director of Governance be authorised to execute contracts in respect
of the above as required.

8

Application to the High Court Injunction to Deal with Unauthorised
Encampments
Councillor Roger Lawrence presented the report on the current situation relating to
unauthorised encampments by travellers and on the threats posed by a likely
increase during 2018. Approval was sought to measures to assist in proactively
combating those threats.

Page 6

Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Resolved:
1. That pursuing injunctive proceedings to restrain unauthorised encampments in
the Council area, by application to the High Court be approved, as it is in the
interests of the City of Wolverhampton area.
2. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for City Environment in
consultation with the Service Director: City Environment and the Director for
Governance to authorise, by Individual Executive Decision Notice (IEDN), the
commencement of High Court Injunction proceedings once satisfied as to the
cogency and quality of the Council’s evidence.
3. That the continuing work to identify suitable land on which to construct a
transit site for use by travellers and gypsies and the potential investment
requirements associated with this, in accordance with the Black Country and
South Staffordshire Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Show People
Accommodation Assessment and the Black Country Core Strategy be noted.
9

Procurement Update PP17156 - Development of 43 New Dwellings at Burton
Crescent and Single Storey Office Extension at 27 Burton Road
Councillor Peter Bilson presented the report that sought approval to a virement of
£0.8 million from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital budget for the New
Build Programme to complete the delivery of 43 new council houses at Burton
Crescent and a single storey extension to 27 Burton Road, Heath Town. A budget of
£5.2 million based on an initial estimate of the scheme was approved by the Council
as part of the HRA capital programme budget in the HRA Business Plan report
approved by Cabinet on 16 January 2018. Tenders received for the contract were
higher than estimated leaving a budget deficit of £0.8 million.
Resolved:
1. That a virement of £0.8 million from the Housing Revenue Account capital
budget for the New Build Programme to increase the total scheme
development budget to £6.0 million be approved.
2. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for City Assets and
Housing and the Cabinet Member for Resources in consultation with the
Service Director Housing and the Director of Finance, to approve agreements
including deed of covenants, collateral warranties, assignments and such
other ancillary agreements, including capital variations as may be deemed
necessary to facilitate the above developments.

10

Disposal of Former Housing Revenue Account Land and Garage Sites
Councillor Peter Bilson presented the report on a proposal to dispose at auction,
once outline planning approval for residential use had been obtained, sites within the
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The sites had been assessed as part of a review
of a larger list of council assets that are currently underused or problematic and had
been considered for housing development potential.
Disposal of the sites in this manner would ensure that the Council achieved best
consideration for the land. Disposal should also ensure that the current poor
condition of the sites would improve, at no further cost to the Council.

Page 7

Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Resolved:
1. That the disposal at auction of the land behind 6 Lewisham Road, in Oxley
Ward, as shown on the plan attached at Appendix 1 to the report be
approved, subject to obtaining outline planning approval for residential use.
2. That the disposal at auction of the land to the rear of 44 Walter Road, in
Bilston East Ward, as shown on the plan attached at Appendix 2 to the report
be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning approval for residential
use together with the grant of any required easements.
3. That the disposal at auction of the former allotment site to the rear of 9 to 12
Elmdon Close, in Oxley Ward, as shown on the plan attached at Appendix 3
to the report be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning approval for
residential use together with the grant of any required easements.
4. That the disposal at auction of the garage site to the rear of 24 to 42
Highfield Avenue, in Fallings Park Ward, as shown on the plan attached at
Appendix 4 to the report be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning
approval for residential use.
5. That the disposal at auction of the land to the rear of 5 to 8 Osier Place, in
East Park Ward, as shown on the plan attached at Appendix 5 to the report
be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning approval for residential
use.
6. That the disposal at auction of the garage site to the rear of 131 Snape
Road, in Wednesfield North Ward, as shown on the plan attached at
Appendix 6 to the report be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning
approval for residential use.
7. That the disposal at auction of the garage site to the rear of 104 Snape
Road, in Wednesfield North Ward, as shown on the plan attached at
Appendix 7 to the report be approved, subject to obtaining outline planning
approval for residential use.

Page 8

Minutes

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 5

Cabinet (Resources) Panel
19 June 2018
Report title

Food Service Plan

Decision designation

AMBER

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Steve Evans
City Environment

Corporate Plan priority

Place - Stronger Economy

Key decision

Yes

In forward plan

Yes

Wards affected

All

Accountable Director

Ross Cook, Service Director for City Environment

Originating service

Business Services

Accountable employee

Emma Caddick
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Place Directorate Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

Service Lead
01902 554320
Emma.caddick@wolverhampton.gov.uk
9 May 2018
22 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:
The Cabinet (Resources) Panel is recommended to:
1. Approve the draft 2018 Food Service Plan as summarised in Appendix 1.
2. Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment in consultation with the
Head of Business Services to approve the final version of the Food Service Plan.
3. Approve the introduction of a charge for both Food Hygiene Rating Revisits and Food
Hygiene Consultancy Work, at an hourly rate of £70 for a Senior Environmental Health
Officer, to take effect from 1 July 2018 (or as soon as possible thereafter).
Recommendations for noting:
The Cabinet (Resources) Panel is asked to note:
1. The requirement to prepare a Food Service Plan.
2. The requirements set out in the action plan following the audit by the Food
Standards Agency in September 2017.

Page 9

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To inform Cabinet (Resources) Panel of the legal requirement to produce a Food Service
Plan.

1.2

To present, for consideration and approval, the draft Food Service Plan for 2018.

1.3

To obtain authority for the Cabinet Member for City Environment in consultation with the
Head of Business Services, to approve the final version of the plan.

1.4

To present, for approval, the introduction of a charge for both Food Hygiene Rating
Revisits and Food Hygiene Consultancy Work, at an hourly rate of £70 for a Senior
Environmental Health Officer, to take effect from 1 July 2018 (or as soon as possible
thereafter).

2.0

Background

2.1

Service delivery plans are recognised by central government as important expressions of
a local authority’s commitment to the development of their various services. They serve
as a quality framework against which a service may be audited and provide a focus on
resourcing and delivering aims and objectives. They also establish mechanisms for
managing performance.

2.2

In January 2001 the Food Standards Agency produced the Framework Agreement on
Local Authority Food Law Enforcement. It included the requirement to prepare a Food
Service Plan and prescribed in detail which areas of the service should be covered by the
plan. This is the eighteenth City of Wolverhampton Council Food Service Plan.

2.3

The Food Service Plan provides a framework upon which a scrutinising body, such as
the Food Standards Agency (FSA) can conduct an official audit. It also sets out, within an
overall commitment to quality and continual improvement, the general aims and
objectives of the service, the scope and levels of the service and the means by which it is
delivered. To this end, it also contains a breakdown of the financial and staffing
resources available to deliver the service.

2.4

The main elements of the plan are summarised in appendix 1. A full copy of the draft
Food Service Plan 2018 can be found in Appendix 2. A copy will be placed on the
intranet when final approval is confirmed.

2.5

The plan describes how the service is discharged and details the numbers, types and
priority ratings of the City’s food premises, the frequencies of planned interventions,
sampling programmes, health promotion activities, reactive work, including responding to
food complaints, food hazard warnings and investigating cases of infectious disease.

3.0

Audit of Food Hygiene Service Delivery

3.1

On 21 September 2017 an audit of food hygiene service delivery took place. The audit
focused on service organisation, management and internal monitoring arrangements. A
copy of the full audit report can be viewed in the members room.

Page 10

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.2

The audit was a positive experience and identified that the authority was found to be
meeting many requirements set by the Food Standards Agency. The auditors recognised
that the Service was provided by highly trained and competent officers, who utilised a
range of enforcement activities to bring about business compliance. They appreciated
that we had focused our resources on high risk businesses and that we had completed
100% of the required interventions with these businesses.

3.3

There were however some areas which required action following the audit and will be
addresses in the 2018 service plan; in summary:


All food businesses should be risk rated following the initial visit.



Interventions should be carried out at all food hygiene establishments at a
frequency, which is set out in the food law code of practice.



Service plans should include a backlog of overdue interventions. Any variance
shall be addressed by the authority in the subsequent service plan.



The authority should have sufficient numbers of authorised officers to carry out all
food hygiene law activities required by the framework agreement and code of
practice.



A procedure should be developed to ensure that food premises database is
accurate, up to date and reliable.

4.0

Charging for Food Hygiene Rating Revisits and Food Hygiene Consultancy Work

4.1

In 2012 the Council adopted the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. The scheme is a national
scheme and its aim is to encourage businesses to improve hygiene standards and assist
consumers in making informed choices about where to eat.

4.2

Businesses are rated between 0 (urgent improvement necessary) and 5 (very good).
Those with a food hygiene rating of 4 or below can request a re-rating inspection. There
is currently no charge for this visit but there are costs, in terms of officers and
administration time, which are currently absorbed by the Service.

4.3

The Food Standard Agency has revised its guidance allowing local authorities to charge
for revisits to reassess food businesses under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, at the
request of the business and where there is no statutory requirement to provide a reinspection. It is for each local authority to decide to use these powers and set the charge
in line with their costs.

4.4

The Council currently do not charge for revisits or for business support or advice. This
approach is not sustainable and in order to provide tailored business support and meet
the requirements me by the Food Standards Agency it will be necessary to recover costs
associated with both revisits and consultancy work.

Page 11

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0

Progress, options, discussion, etc.

5.1

The Food Service Plan is a Statutory Document and is required to be produced annually.

5.2

The overall resource provision required to deliver the requirements of the plan fall within
the City Environment Portfolio. For this reason, the Cabinet Member for City Environment
is the signatory of the approved plan.

5.3

The 2017 Food Service Plan highlighted that with current resources Food Hygiene
interventions would only be carried out at high risk food premises (Category A-C). All
lower risk businesses would only be visited in response to a complaint and may not
receive an intervention at all.

5.4

100% of category A-C rated premises were inspected in 2017 however a large proportion
of the lower risk businesses did not receive an intervention. This was largely due to a
number of officers being involved with a serious health and safety investigation and 2
officers being on maternity leave.

5.5

In order to meet the recommendations highlighted by the Food Standards Agency the
Service has had no option but to change its approach and is now risk rating businesses
following the first visit and will be introducing a charge for re-rating businesses.

5.6

It is proposed that a charge for both Food Hygiene Rating Revisits and Food Hygiene
Consultancy Work, at an hourly rate of £70 for a Senior Environmental Health Officer, to
take effect from 1 July 2018 (or as soon as possible thereafter), is introduced and for
which approval is sought from this report.

5.7

Cabinet on the 29 November 2017 approved the use of £320,000 from the Budget
Contingency Reserve of which £123,000 was to fund the back fill of three Senior
Environmental Health Officer posts, who were involved in a significant Health and Safety
Investigation. This is enabling the service to utilise a contractor to remove the backlog of
food hygiene inspections. To ensure that the Service completes 100% of due
interventions in 2018.

6.0

Evaluation of alternative options

6.1

Option 1, no change to existing policy of risk rating a business until the end of the Food
Hygiene Intervention. This would have jeopardised the authority’s participation in the
National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme and potentially contributed to the back log of
inspections.

6.2

Option 2, change our approach: risk rating on the first visit, charging for revisits, advice
and guidance. This would allow continued participation in the National Food Hygiene
Rating scheme and more interventions to be undertaken at lower risk premises.

6.3

Option 3, continue to only undertake interventions at higher risk food business. This
would mean a substantial number of business would be operating without the authority
having any knowledge as to whether the food produced by those premises has been

Page 12

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

handled and produced hygienically and is safe to eat. This could result in people
becoming seriously ill and in some cases dying.
6.4

Option 4, utilise contractors and funding to enable interventions to be undertaken and to
ensure that businesses are producing food hygienically and is safe.

7.0

Reasons for decisions

7.1

Our approach to risk rating will change in order to ensure the continued participation in
the National Food Hygiene Scheme, which aims to increase the standards of food
businesses Nationally.

7.2

The use of additional resources in 2018 will enable the authority to inspect all premises
which are due an intervention and therefore reduce the likelihood of businesses
producing food unhygienically and members of the public living of visiting the City
becoming ill.

8.0

Financial implications

8.1

The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes a 2018 revenue budget of £1.9 million for
Consumer Services, which includes the Food Safety Service of £400,000.

8.2

It should be recognised that a wide range of other non- food related services are
delivered within this budgetary provision which include health and safety, investigation
and control of infectious disease, environmental protection, trading standards, licensing
regulation, street scene and highways enforcement.

8.3

Cabinet on the 29 November 2017 approved the use of £320,000 from the Budget
Contingency Reserve of which £123,000 was to fund the back fill of three Senior
Environmental Health Officer posts, who were involved in a significant Health and Safety
Investigation. This will enable the authority to inspect all premises which are due an
intervention and therefore reduce the likelihood of businesses producing food
unhygienically.

8.4

It is anticipated that income from the introduction of a charge for both Food Hygiene
Rating Revisits and Food Hygiene Consultancy Work, at an hourly rate of £70 for a
Senior Environmental Health Officer, will cover the estimated cost of providing the
service.
[TT/17052018/N]

9.0

Legal implications

9.1

Powers to enable the Food Standards Agency to monitor and audit local authorities’
enforcement action are contained in the Food Standards Act 1999. This was the statutory
basis for the development of the Framework Agreement that was initially established in
2001 and which has been subsequently amended. The requirement for local authorities
to develop and maintain annual Food Service Plans is an important part of the process to
ensure national priorities and standards are addressed and delivered locally.

Page 13

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

9.2

Legal advice received by the Food Standards Agency indicates that powers are available
to local authorities in England under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 allowing recovery
of costs for food hygiene rating scheme re-inspections requested by Food Business
Operators
[RB/16052018/S]

10.0

Equalities implications

10.1

Implementation of the Food Service Plan will have no adverse equality implications as
the same levels of advice and support are provided to all food business proprietors from
all sections of the community.

10.2

Certain sectors of the food trade are predominantly owned by one or other ethnic groups.
In order to ensure a consistent and proportionate approach, all decisions are based
solely on considerations of risk, public safety, evidence and public interest. All
enforcement policies reflect this approach.

10.3

The more comprehensive food service outlined in option 2 will ensure that all consumers
within Wolverhampton will have equal access to safe and nutritious food.

11.0

Environmental implications

11.1

The report may have some indirect environmental implications in so far as it affects the
working and commercial environment in Wolverhampton.

12.0

Human resources implications

12.1

There are no direct human resources implications arising from this report.

13.0

Corporate landlord implications

13.1

A number of food businesses operate from Council assets/properties. In some of these
cases the Council will have duty holder responsibilities in ensuring the structure and
facilities provided are compliant with food safety legislation. In these cases, the service is
advised of its responsibilities by the visiting officer.

14.0

Schedule of background papers

14.1

Food Service Plan 2017

14.2

Audit of Food Hygiene Service Delivery Focusing on Service Organisation and Internal
Monitoring Arrangements: City of Wolverhampton City Council.

14.3

Revenue Budget Monitoring Quarter Two 2017-2018 report to Cabinet on 29 November
2017

15.0

Appendices

15.1

Appendix 1 – Summary: Food Service Plan

15.2

Appendix 2 – Food Service Plan

Page 14

Appendix 1
Summary – Statutory Food Service Plan
The Statutory Food Service Plan sets out how the City of Wolverhampton Council
will work over the coming year to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the
safety and quality of food prepared and sold in Wolverhampton is of the highest
standard.
The plan meets the requirements laid down by the Food Standards Agency and is
designed to ensure that local people and residents can clearly see what the Service
does, how our services are delivered and the resources we have to do this.
In brief the plan explains that the Service carries out:


a full range of food hygiene and standards work as required by the Food
Standards Agency, including inspections, sampling and responding to
Service Requests.



a range of advisory work, to help local businesses and residents ensure that
food manufactured sold and consumed in the City of Wolverhampton is safe
to eat and is correctly labelled.

The priority areas of work for 2018 are:




to carry out 100% of all Food Hygiene inspections at A-D rated premises
to carry out full food hygiene and food standards interventions of approved
premises
to develop a consultancy service introducing charges for tailored business
advice and guidance.

The overall budgetary provision for the Service is anticipated to be in the region of
£1.9 million for 2018. The services resourced through this budgetary provision
include: •
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Food hygiene
Food standards
Infectious disease investigation and control
Compositional and microbiological sampling
Health and safety including accident investigations, stadia certification, etc.
Public health (relating to commercial businesses, i.e. nuisance, noise,
drainage, etc.)
Licensing enforcement (vehicles and premises)
Street scene regulation
Trading Standards

The monitoring of performance against the Service Plan is detailed in the plan and
involves the Head of Service, Service Leads and employee groups. In addition, there
is external review of performance through the statutory return to the Food Standards
Agency.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

City of Wolverhampton Council

Food Service Plan
2018

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Page 17

Page 18
2 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Contents

Contents
1 Introduction
2 Summary

5
7

5 Service Delivery
What businesses can expect from
the service
19
Intervention Programme

3 Service Aim and Objectives
Aims

9

Objectives

9

Service Statement

10

Links to Corporate Issues

12

Approval and review process

12

4 Background Information
Authority Proﬁle

13

20

Priority Areas For Intervention and
Targeted Action
24
Food Complaints

25

Primary and Home Authority
Principle

26

Advice to Business

27

Sampling

28

Infectious Disease Control

30

Food Safety Incidents

30

Liaison Arrangements

30

The means by which
the service is discharged
Scope of the Food Service
Development of
Food Service

15
16

Proﬁle of Food Service
– Food Hygiene

17

6 Resources
Financial Allocation

32

Stafﬁng Allocation

33

Competency

35

Staff Development

35

Quality Assessment

37

Performance
Management and Review

38

– Feeding stuffs
Regulatory and
Compliance Policy

18

Page 19
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

3

Page 20
4 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Introduction

1
Introduction
Welcome to the 18th Statutory Food
Service Plan for the City of
Wolverhampton.
The Food Standards Agency (FSA)
Framework Agreement, which was
developed in close partnership with the
Local Government Association (LGA),
requires the annual production of the
Statutory Food Service Plan. The
Agreement applies to local enforcement
of all food laws, and incorporates the
latest guidance and standards on food
law enforcement.

The Plan has been reviewed in
accordance with the FSA’s Service
Planning guidance for Food Law
Enforcement and the guidance
contained in the Food Law Code of
Practice (England) and guidance. The
FSA also requires the service plan be
submitted for Member approval to
ensure local transparency and
accountability. All formal actions arising
from interventions taken under the
provisions of the Plan will be compliant
with the BRDO Regulators Code.

Page 21
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

5

Introduction

The Plan is not a stand-alone document;
it is an integral part of the Council's
service delivery programme. It stands
alongside other service specific plans
such as the Health and Safety Plan and
provides details of the proposed service
programme for 2018 and sits within the
overall Performance Management
arrangements for Business Services. All
the Service Plans are aligned to the
Council’s corporate performance and
financial planning frameworks.
The service is committed to working
towards the inspection and intervention
regime prescribed by the Food
Standards Agency. Demands on
resources in previous years has resulted
in a back log of interventions at lower
risk establishments. Additional resources
have been acquired for 2018 enabling
the Service to employ a contractor to
undertake Food Hygiene and Food
Standards interventions at these
premises.

Whilst it is envisaged that the Service will
meet the requirements of the
programme this year. The focus will
continue to be on the higher risk
businesses detailed on the programme.
An audit of the Food Hygiene Service
and delivery focusing on service
organisation, management and internal
monitoring arrangements was carried
out by the Food Standards Agency on
the 21 September 2017. This has led to
the service reviewing our approach to
businesses and the level of free support
we are able to offer them.
Should you have any comments or
views with respect to this plan please
forward these to the Head of Service;
Colin Parr, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s
Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1DA

An additional two officers have been
appointed to undertake interventions at
food hygiene and food standards
premises. It is anticipated that this
combined with the use of contractors
will ensure that due interventions will be
carried out at all of the premises within
the City.

Page 22
6 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Summary

ency – External
rds Ag
perf
a
d
o rm
tan
S
an
d
o
ce
Fo

100% of all Food
Hygiene inspections at
A-D rated premises

Full food hygiene
and food standards
interventions of
approved premises

Statutory
Food
Service
A range of advisory work,
to help local businesses
and residents ensure that
food manufactured sold and
consumed in the City of
Wolverhampton is safe
to eat and is correctly
labelled.

– External per
f
o
gency
r
m
anc
ds A
e
dar
r
e
vie
tan
w
dS

A full range of food
hygiene and standards
work as required by the
Food Standards Agency,
including inspections,
sampling and responding
to Service Requests.

o
Fo

re
vie
w

Service wheel:
existing services and priority areas

A consultancy
service introducing
charges for tailored
business advice
and guidance

Existing services
Priority areas of work to
carry out (2018)

2

Priority areas of work to
develop (2018)

Summary
The Statutory Food Service Plan sets out how the City of Wolverhampton Council will
work over the coming year to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the safety
and quality of food prepared and sold in Wolverhampton is of the highest standard.
The plan meets the requirements laid down by the Food Standards Agency and is
designed to ensure that local people and residents can clearly see what the service
does, how our services are delivered and the resources we have to do this.

Page 23
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

7

Summary

Services Resourced

Compositional
and microbiological
sampling

Licensing
enforcement
(vehicles and
premises)

Food
standards

Public health
relating to
commercial
businesses
i.e. drainage,
nuisance noise,
etc.

Food
hygiene

The overall budgetary provision
for the service is anticipated to
be in the region of
£1.9 million for 2018.

Infectious
disease
investigation
and control

The services resourced through
this budgetary provision include:

Street scene
regulation

Trading
Standards
Health and safety
including accident
investigations, stadia
certification, etc.

Monitoring
The monitoring of performance against the Service Plan is detailed in the plan and
involves the Head of Service, Service Leads and employee groups. In addition, there
is external review of performance through the statutory return to the Food Standards
Agency.

Page 24
8 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Aims and Objectives

3
Service Aims and Objectives
Aims
Through the effective and efficient use of
the resources allocated, to help food
businesses provide safe food and
ensure that the quality of food prepared
and sold in Wolverhampton is of the
highest standard.

Objectives
In achieving the aims we will:
• Register, approve and licence, as
appropriate, relevant food premises.
• Maintain appropriate food premises
intervention programmes which
comply with all requirements set out
in legislation.
• Respond to and investigate food
safety and standards complaints,
requests for information made by
both business persons and private
individuals and complaints of a public
health nature, relating to food
premises.
• Make appropriate responses to
national food alerts identified by the
FSA.
• Support the BEIS Primary and Home
Authority Principle.

• Support the workings of the Central
England Environmental Health
Partnership, West Midlands Food
Liaison Group, and the Central
England Trading Standards
Authorities Food Group.
• Maintain appropriate food sampling
regimes which comply with relevant
statutory provisions and national
guidance.
• Investigate reported cases and
outbreaks of infectious disease and
support the work of Public Health
England in this respect.
• Have regard to enforcement which is
helpful, consistent and proportionate
and does not impose unnecessary
burden, as set out in the Black
Country Regulators Operating
Framework.
• Ensure all actions and decisions
taken by employees and Councillors
are undertaken in an open and
transparent fashion with due regard
to the Council's policies on equality.
• Ensure that all investigations leading
to legal proceedings are completed in
accordance with the principles of
natural justice and fairness.
• Ensure appropriate monitoring,
reporting and response to the actual
implementation and delivery of the
agreed Service Plan.

Page 25
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

9

Service Aims and Objectives

Service Statement
As part of our commitment to quality service provision each service is required to
produce a Service Statement. The Service Statement for Business Services is detailed
overleaf –

Page 26
10 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Aims and Objectives

Service Statement
Our Service
Business Services enforces the law through a programme of interventions and
investigations in respect of food and other commercial businesses. It provides
information and advice to businesses, customers and other consumers.
This service is also responsible for health and safety, infectious disease control,
licensing enforcement, ‘street scene’ enforcement matters and trading standards
issues.
The Service receives approximately 2000 requests for service each year. In addition to
dealing with requests and complaints we carry out programmed regulation of shops
and businesses in Wolverhampton. Our services are responsible for ensuring you are
treated fairly and your health and environment are protected.

Our council
Business Services is responsible for delivering some of the Council’s statutory duties.
In discharging these duties we strive to contribute to the corporate customer service
standards, the Council’s core values and community priorities.
Our service contributes to the Council’s core values in many ways. Our service plans
set the highest standards for us to work to. In our dealings with the public and trade
we act in accordance with the principles of the Compliance Code ensuring equality
and fairness to all combined with honesty, transparency and accountability.
The objectives of these services are protecting people and the environment and,
through engaging stakeholders and colleagues in other agencies, we build
partnerships. By protecting the social, economic and environmental conditions within
the City and by minimising nuisance to neighbourhoods and protecting the health of
people at work and play our service contributes to the Council’s strategic goals of
developing a stronger economy and stronger communities. By providing advice,
support and training to the public and other Council services we also contribute to the
strategic goal of encouraging a confident, capable and championing City.

Page 27
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Business Services Statutory Food Service Plan 2018

11

Service Aims and Objectives

Links to Corporate Issues

Approval and Review Process

In order to achieve continuous service
improvement and strive for performance
capable of achieving a sustainable future
which reflects the political priorities and
values of partners within
Wolverhampton, it is important that the
statutory service plan links itself visibly to
the overall corporate objectives.

The service plan is subject to approval
and scrutiny by the Service Director for
City Environment and the Cabinet
Member for City Environment.

Business Services produces two service
delivery plans detailing the work of the
service. They cover the work of the
Food Hygiene and Standards Service
and the Health and Safety Service.

Progress with delivery of the Plan is
monitored on a regular basis by
Business Services Management Team.
The directorate Performance
Management Board also monitor
performance against KPIs on a monthly
basis.

These service plans contribute to the
overall service plan for the PLACE
directorate by forming the foundation of
work for the service area.

Page 28
12 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Background Information

4
Background Information
Authority Profile (Based on the 2011 Census)

The City of
Wolverhampton has
a population of

Black 6.9%

252,987

"Other" ethnicity 1.9%

Asian 18.1%

White British
64.5%

Ethnic
breakdown
of the
population

Mixed 5.1%
White Non-British
3.5%

49.5%
male

50.5%
female

Population by gender

55%

Proportion of
residents aged
16-74 in
employment

Life expectancy for both men
and women is lower than the
England average.

About 33.4%
(15,570) children
live in poverty

Wolverhampton is in the
6% most deprived areas in
the country and the levels of
deprivation in the City continue
to rise.

Children in
poverty

Page 29
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

13

Background Information

The Means by which the Service is
Delivered
The political structure of the Council is
made up of a leader, Cabinet, Cabinet
Panels, Scrutiny Panels and
committees. The Cabinet is part of the
Executive decision making process and
is made up of ten Councillors and is
chaired by the Leader of the Council.
Each Cabinet Member has a specific
area of responsibility, a portfolio.
Decisions about the day to day running
of Council services are taken by the
Cabinet within the framework of the
Council’s Constitution, budget and plans
approved by the Council.

Business Services, which sits within the
City Environment group of services in
the Place directorate, falls under the
remit of the Cabinet Member for City
Environment along with Waste Services,
Public Realm Services, and
Bereavement Services.
In line with shared priorities developed
between Central Government and the
Local Government Association,
Wolverhampton’s priorities are:
Stronger Economy
Stronger Communities
Stronger Organisation

Page 30
14 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Background Information

• Commitment of resources to the
LGR, Home Authority Principle, Local
Better Regulatory Office and Primary
Authority Partnership,

Scope of the Food Service
The City of Wolverhampton Council’s
Food Service undertakes:
• Programmed Interventions, which
include full or part inspections,
microbiological and compositional
sampling of food, education and
advisory visits to food businesses
with respect to food hygiene and
food standards.

• Commitment to the BEIS Better
Business for All initiative
• Response to cases and outbreaks of
actual and suspected food related
infectious disease.
• Provision of advice and assistance to
other local authorities and
enforcement bodies

• Operation of the National Food
Hygiene Rating Scheme (NFHRS)
• Development and maintenance of an
‘alternative enforcement strategy’ for
food businesses for both food
hygiene and food standards
• Responses to food complaints,
• Response to nuisance complaints
and related issues in connection with
food business,
• Response to food alerts, warnings
and other food incidents,
• Response to, and determination of,
licence applications in relation to food
businesses
• Investigation of allegations of food
fraud
• Promotion of food related health
matters

• Enforcement of the Health Act 2006,
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling
Act 2005
• Consultee role to planning
applications.
The service is also responsible for
discharging the authority’s functions in
relation to health and safety at work,
infectious disease control, licensing
issues and nuisance arising from waste,
drainage and noise from food and
licenced commercial premises.
Feeding stuffs enforcement is delivered
in partnership with South Staffordshire
County Council who are responsible for
undertaking enforcement compliance in
this area.

Page 31
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

15

Background Information

Development of the
Food Hygiene Service
On 21 September 2017 an audit of food
hygiene service delivery took place. The
audit focused on service Organisation,
Management and Internal Monitoring
arrangements. The audit identified that
the authority was found to be meeting
many requirements set by the Food
Standards Agency. The auditors
recognised that the Service was
provided by highly trained and
competent officers, who utilised a range
of enforcement activities to bring about
business compliance. They appreciated
that we had focused our resources on
high risk businesses and that we had
completed 100% of the required
interventions with these businesses.
There were however some areas which
required action following the audit:
• All food businesses should be risk
rated following the initial visit.
• Interventions should be carried out at
all food hygiene establishments at a
frequency, which is set out in the food
law code of practice.
• Service plans should include a
backlog of overdue interventions.
Any variance shall be addressed by
the authority in the subsequent
service plan.

• The authority should have sufficient
numbers of authorised officers to
carry out all food hygiene law
activities required by the framework
agreement and code of practice.
•

A procedure should be developed to
ensure that food premises database
is accurate, up to date and reliable.

The findings of the audit and demands
on resources have resulted in the
Service changing it’s approach and
businesses are now risk rated on their
first visit. The service is no longer able to
undertake repeated visits to businesses
prior to risk rating. The service will also
be employing contractors to inspect any
premises which have no received an
inspection in 2017.
In order to enable the continuation of
business support the Service will be
exploring charging businesses for
consultancy Services. This will enable
officers to spend as much time as the
business requires to improve
The authority will also be developing
charges for businesses who require rerating under the Food Hygiene Rating
Scheme.

Page 32
16 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Background Information

Profile of Food Service
(As of April 2018)

Premises Type

Enforcement of Regulations on food
standards, safety and hygiene is
primarily the responsibility of local
authorities, however The Food
Standards Agency (FSA) have
responsibility for food hygiene
enforcement in slaughterhouses, cutting
premises, farmed and wild game
facilities and co-located minced meat
and meat products premises. Local
Authorities retain responsibility for food
standards enforcement within these
premises.

Caring establishments

The food premises profile for
Wolverhampton is set out in the table
alongside.
The food premises data base of
Wolverhampton is currently stored within
an I.T. platform called IDOX.

Total Number
of Premises

Distributors & transporters
Hotel/guest house
Importers and exporters

211
0
22
0

Manufacturers and packers

35

Mobile food unit

76

Primary producer

1

Pub Club

188

Restaurant and caterers other

605

Retailers(other)

201

Schools/college

105

Small retailer

606

Supermarket/Hypermarket
Take-away
Wholesalers
Totals

48
273
10
2381

Page 33
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

17

Background Information

Profile of Food Service –
Feeding stuffs

Regulatory and Compliance Policy

The authority has entered into a
partnership with Staffordshire County
Council, who have now assumed
responsibility for undertaking
enforcement compliance within this
area.
45 premises undertake the activity
of production, storage or handling of
feedstuff(s) for animals.

This is the overarching compliance
policy document was approved by
Cabinet in October 2014. It has regard
to human rights issues and incorporates
the principles contained in the
Governments BIS / BRDO Regulators
Code.
The Black Country Regulators Operating
Framework, comprising Service Charter,
Regulatory & Compliance Policy and
Service Standards has now been
adopted by all four Black Country
authorities.

Page 34
18 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

5
Service Delivery
What businesses should expect when a member
of staff undertakes an inspection
Staff undertaking food safety work will:
✔ Identify themselves by name and title, showing proof of ID if required
and give contact details when necessary
✔ Be helpful and courteous
✔ Carry out their duties in a fair, equitable and consistent manner in accordance
with the Council’s Enforcement and Equal Opportunities Policies.
✔ Help food businesses in providing safe food for their customers. Discuss
and assist in the compliance with legislation, applying a risk based and
appropriate approach.
✔ Tailor the intervention to the business’s needs, minimising the cost of compliance
by ensuring any action required is proportionate to the risk.
✔ Encourage businesses to seek advice, information and encourage two way
communication.
✔ Provide information about the Council’s complaints procedures and any
official appeals procedures as appropriate.
✔ Issue a report, where non-compliance with the relevant legislation is found.
✔ Advise on future changes in relevant legislation and requirement/obligations
on food business.

Page 35
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

19

Service Delivery

Intervention Programmes
In accordance with the FSA Food Law
Code of Practice food premises in
Wolverhampton are subject to an
intervention in order to establish that
food related activities carried out within
the premises comply with food law.
The use of interventions was
incorporated in UK law through the
requirements made under EU Regulation
882/2004 Article 10 and further through
the FSA Food Law Code of Practice.
Interventions are defined as activities
that are designed to monitor, support
and increase food law compliance within
a food establishment. They include but
are not restricted to “official controls”
and are carried out using a risk based
approach, which is set out within the
FSA Food Law Code of Practice.
There are currently two separate
inspection programmes relating to food
hygiene and food standards, however
for the majority of businesses in
Wolverhampton, food standards
interventions are normally undertaken at
the same time as food hygiene
interventions. This is because, for most
businesses, the issues of labelling,
composition and quality are interlinked
with those of the food hygiene and
safety and are therefore dealt with
during one intervention. However, for
larger manufacturing businesses and
cutting plants etc (where the Council
does not enforce hygiene legislation)

separate food standards interventions
are arranged.
The adoption of this approach has
meant that although all businesses are
rated for food standards risk under FSA
Food Law Code of Practice, the
intervention programme is generally
driven by the frequency of food hygiene
intervention. The inevitable
consequence is that some food
standards interventions will be
undertaken slightly early and some
slightly late. In order to minimise the
effect of this on statistical returns a
general rule is followed whereby if a food
standards intervention will be overdue at
31 March if not carried out at the same
time as a food hygiene intervention, it
should be done early rather than late.
Serious or significant food standards
breaches will be followed up by
appropriate intervention and when
necessary formal action e.g.
prosecution, simple caution etc.
Both programmes adhere to the
premises rating schemes contained
within the statutory Food Law Codes of
Practice produced by the FSA. Using
the number of premises in each risk
band and the associated inspection
frequency, it is possible to estimate the
number of inspections due in any given
period. The number of revisits is a
function of the levels of compliance
identified during an initial visit and any
enforcement policy decisions.

Page 36
20 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

The Intervention Programme is central to
food law compliance, and Local
Authorities must ensure that such a
programme is appropriately resourced.
The purpose of food hygiene inspections
is to find out if food being handled and
produced hygienically; is safe to eat; and
to identify factors which have the
potential to cause food poisoning or
injury. Failure to adequately resource the
food programme would result in some
premises not receiving an inspection
and operating in a manner which could
cause harm to public health.

It is estimated that an additional 3
Senior/District Officers and a
Compliance Officer would be required to
achieve full compliance with the Food
Standards Agency’s requirements on a
sustainable basis.

Page 37
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

21

Service Delivery

The AES provides a means of dealing
with those premises deemed to be so
low risk with respect to food hygiene
issues that they can be dealt with
other than by intervention from
officers. Tailored questionnaires are
used to assess premises suitability in
being placed in the AES. From the
information provided by the business
in the questionnaire officers will then
assess the suitability of placing a
business outside the routine
inspection programme.

Food Hygiene Intervention
Programme for 2018
The table below outlines the visits
identified for 2018. The table also
includes those inspections not
completed in the previous years
inspection programme.
Category A premises are the highest
risk premises and are subject to an
intervention every 6 months, B’s
yearly, C’s every 18 months and D’s
every two years. AES (Alternative
Enforcement Strategy) premises are
subject to an Alternative Enforcement
Strategy every 3 years.
Risk Rating

Number of Premises
Due in 2018

Number of Premises
Overdue (2017)

Visit
frequency

A

7

0

6 months

B

22

0

1 year

C

118

0

18 months

D

248

324

2 years

AES (E)

81

76

3 years

Unrated

145

N/A

Determine by
next inspection

621

400

Total

Contractors will be used to
address the large number of
overdue interventions at Risk
Rating Category D.

Page 38
22 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

Food Standards Intervention
Programme 2018
The table below outlines the visits
identified for 2018. The table includes
those inspections not completed in
the previous years inspection
programme.
Category A premises are the highest
risk premises and are subject to an
intervention every 12 months and
Category B’s premises every 18
months. The FSA Food Law Code of
Practice deems that Category C
rated premises do not receive an
intervention as they are so low risk
they do not justify one. These should
be subject to minimum contact via

Risk Rating

Number of Premises
Due in 2018

the AES at least once every 5 years in
accordance with the FSA Food Code
of Practice.
The information in relation to both the
Food Standards and the Food
Hygiene intervention programme
forms part of the data submitted to
the FSA on an annual basis. This
annual return, known as LAEM’s
(Local Authority Enforcement
Monitoring) has been operated since
2009. The submission of data is
required by all countries within the
EU. The figures are derived from
information inputted between 1 April
the previous year and 31 March in the
current year.

Number of Premises
Overdue (2017)

Visit
frequency

A

4

1

B

86

165

2 years

C/AES *

6

270

5 years

Unrated

422

n/a

Determined by
next inspection

518

436

Total

Yearly

Page 39
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

23

Service Delivery

Feeding Stuffs
Wolverhampton has 45 premises where
feed is produced, stored or handled.
Priority inspection has been contracted
to Staffordshire Trading Standards,
whom target higher risk premises and
those generating complaints, on average
premises receive a 3 year inspection.

• To provide suitable, relevant and
informative guidance to businesses to
assist their compliance with food
labelling legislation, including allergen
legislation.

Priority Areas for Intervention
and Targeted Activities

• To implement new legislation, Codes
of Practice and service policy and
procedures as required by law and
when requiring update.

Identified enforcement priorities for
further development for 2018 are set
out below:
• To carry out 100% of all food hygiene
inspections at A-D rated premises
including D rated premises which are
overdue.
• To carry out full food hygiene and
food standards interventions of
approved premises and other
manufacturers that fall due within the
year.
• To develop Primary Authority
Partnerships with businesses in the
area.

• To ensure a satisfactory level of
compliance with food standards
issues in manufacturers and
processors.

• Provide advice on, and enforcement
of, The General Food Law Regulation
(EC) 178:2002, The Food Safety Act,
the Food Safety and Hygiene
(England) Regulations 2013 and
Regulation EU 852, 853/2004 and
178/2002.
• Should resources allow we will
undertake an alternative enforcement
programme for premises classed as
lower risk for food hygiene and food
standards inspections.

• Introduce charges for re-rating food
business.
• Develop a consultancy service
introducing charges for advice and
guidance.

Page 40
24 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

Food Complaints
The Service endeavours to adopt a
consistent approach to the receipt and
investigation of food complaints,
approximately 61 of which are received
each year. In general, all food complaints
made to the service will give rise to a
detailed consideration of the exact
circumstances of each case in order to
determine whether it would be an
appropriate use of resources to pursue
the matter. A range of options is
available:
• Advise complainant to pursue directly
with retailer or manufacturer.
• Accept complaint and refer to either
‘Home’,‘Originating’ Authority and/or
Primary Authorities for information
and/or investigation.
• Accept and investigate complaint in
liaison with ‘Home’ ‘Originating
and/or ‘Primary’ Authorities with a
view to further action.
All complaints will be dealt with in
accordance with the Food Complaints
Policy and Procedure, and where
appropriate, complainants will be
directed to the Service’s ‘Common Food
Complaints’ booklet.
All complainants are advised at the
earliest opportunity of the course of
action the Council intends to take. The
vast majority of complaints fall into the
second of the above categories. The

Service will accept and investigate
complaints if one or more of the
following circumstances are apparent:
• There is ‘prima facie’ evidence of an
offence under the Food Safety Act
1990 or its subordinate Regulations
and the nature of the offence gives
rise to public health or safety
concerns.
• The complaint represents a repeat of
previous offences by the
company/trader concerned and the
circumstances of the case indicate
the case would withstand legal
scrutiny.
Wolverhampton Council is guided by
LGR ‘Guidance on Food Complaints’ in
its investigations. These are investigated
by sampling and analysis if necessary.
In addition to food complaints received
each year, in the region of
457complaints relating to conditions in
or around food premises are also
received. These complaints range from
allegations of poor hygiene to major
defects with drainage systems or rodent
infestations etc. The vast majority of
these complaints are investigated by a
visit from an officer.
The maximum response time for
complaints is 10 working days; however,
these are driven by levels of associated
risk and prioritised as such.

Page 41
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

25

Service Delivery

Home Authority and Primary
Authority Principle

administered by the Better Regulation
Delivery Office (BRDO.

Businesses operating in the United
Kingdom (UK) need to comply with a
wide range of legislation. Local
authorities, which are responsible for
enforcing most legislation, help
businesses to comply by providing
advice, guidance and information.
Businesses usually build up a
relationship with, and receive advice and
information from, one local authority that
is usually based where the business is.

The Council is committed to supporting
the Home and Primary Authority scheme
in respect of both proactive and reactive
food safety issues. Although the
authority is home authority for a number
of businesses we currently do not have
Primary Authority responsibility for any
businesses within Wolverhampton.

For trading standards and food safety
matters, the local government has
developed a scheme where that
authority, known as the Home Authority,
is the local authority at the location of
the business's decision-making base.
The Home Authority Principle is a
scheme to help businesses by providing
contact points for advice and guidance
in order to maintain high standards of
Business Services, encourage fair trade
and develop a consistent approach to
enforcement.
As part of the government’s “Better
Regulation” agenda, the Regulatory
Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008
has paved the way for an extension of
the Home Authority scheme. The new
scheme is known as “Primary Authority”.
Effectively, Primary Authority gives
statutory backing to the Home Authority
scheme and provides a series of
additional benefits. It is currently

In maintaining our home authority
partnerships, officers from the Service
will:• respond to enquiries from other local
authorities about, or concerning, the
business or its operations or
procedures
• act on behalf of other local authorities
as the primary regulatory link to the
business
• provide advice to the companies on
the interpretation of legislation
• provide assistance to enforcing
authorities in the conduct of
investigations and encourage the
businesses to offer reasonable
assistance.
The authority will have regard to the
Primary Authority Partnership Scheme
and associated official guidance when
considering formal legal action.

Page 42
26 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

Advice to Businesses

Sampling

In order to compliment and enhance its
enforcement functions the Service
provides advice and information to
businesses with the aim of assisting
them to comply with their statutory
obligations. Advice is available to those
premises starting-up business and to
those already trading. Advice includes
compliance with legislation and
nationally approved guidance.

The Services carries out food sampling
on both a reactive and proactive basis.

Advice and information is provided both
reactively and proactively on a planned
basis in the form of advisory
components of all interventions / visits
and information provided by the
council’s website.
Apart from the ‘feedstuff’ related
premises, advice to business with
implications in relation to feeding stuffs
is minimal, because retailers are selling
sealed containers of long shelf life
products.

Reactive sampling, for either
microbiological examination or
compositional analysis takes the
following forms:
• Sampling of foods subject to
complaint
• Unplanned sampling carried out
during an inspection
• Un-programmed sampling associated
with a food poisoning investigation
• Programmed sampling as determined
by the sampling programme
Two sampling programmes are
operated, one for microbiological
examination and one for compositional
analysis. These concentrate on
businesses that will positively benefit
from the taking of samples and the
results and advice officers can offer to
the business operator.

Page 43
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

27

Service Delivery

Microbiological Sampling Programme
The microbiological sampling
programme focuses on assisting food
businesses to provide safe food to their
customers.
Each sample is subject to 6 standard
determinations:
• Aerobic Colony Count ( ACC)

Compositional Sampling Programme
The compositional sampling programme
consists of samples being subject to
• Presence /absence of certain
constituents
• Whether food has been subject
to certain processes
• Compliance with labelling
requirements

• Enterobacteriacae
• E.coli

• Composition of food, e.g. alcohol
substitution, % lean meat, over-use
of food colourings

• Salmonella
• Staphlococcus aureas
• Listeria
Each sample result is interpreted in
accordance with the most recently
published guidelines from the Health
Protection Agency (HPA) issue Nov
2009.
The microbiological sampling
programme incorporates both national
surveys and those organised at a local
level through the West Midlands Food
Liaison Group.

The compositional programme
incorporates both national and local
surveys. The service will participate in
such surveys subject to available
resources.
Sampling and surveys are based on the
Home Authority Principle and target
manufacturing businesses, new and
existing. Premises having unsatisfactory
results will be subject to follow-up formal
sampling.

Page 44
28 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

Water Sampling
There is only one commercial private
water supply in Wolverhampton. In order
to ensure compliance with the relevant
regulations the Service ensures that
samples of water from all private water
supplies are taken and results analyse

Feeding Stuffs Sampling
The authority has entered into a
partnership with Staffordshire County
Council, who have now assumed
responsibility for undertaking
enforcement compliance within
this area.

Page 45
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

29

Service Delivery

Infectious Disease Control

Food Safety Incidents

In conjunction with Public Health
England (PHE), Wolverhampton Council
investigates cases of actual or
suspected food poisoning and food
borne infectious disease. The response
is determined by:

All formal food alert warnings are
investigated in line with the local
interpretation of the recommended
approach attached to each warning.
The authority receives notification of
each warning through the Food
Standards Agency (FSA).

• The nature of the (suspected) illness
• The number of cases

Liaison Arrangements

• The nature of the employment of
affected individuals
• The previous record of implicated
food businesses
Approximately 168 individual cases are
notified to the service every year, a
number of these may constitute
outbreaks, where a number of cases are
associated with the source of the food
poisoning.
In all cases implicating known food
hazards the standards contained in the
document ‘Food Handlers - Fitness to
Work’ are observed.
Under the Public Health (Control of
Disease) Act 1984 and associated
regulations, duly authorised officers are
provided with wider, more flexible
powers to deal with food related
incidents or emergencies where
infection or contamination presents, or
could present a risk to human health. It
also places a duty on GP's to notify the
proper officer of the Council of food
poisoning cases.

Wolverhampton Council is committed to
open, transparent and proportionate
enforcement which is consistent with
Government advice, guidance and
national and regional interpretation of
legislative requirements.
In addressing this the importance of
collaboration and consultation locally
and nationally is recognised. Regionally
there are liaison groups at Chief Officer
(Head of Service) level in respect of
Environmental Health and Trading
Standards Services.
The Service will also respond to
consultation exercises from the
Government, the Local Government
Association and relevant professional
bodies.

Page 46
30 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Delivery

Officers from the Service also meet and
liaise with the following organisations:
• The West Midlands Food Liaison
Group
• Central England Trading Standards
Authorities Group (CEnTSA) - Quality
Standards Sub Group
• The Health Protection Agency
• Public Health
• Wolverhampton NHS Trusts Liaison
Group

Recently, Wolverhampton became
actively involved with the partnership
between regulators, representatives
from trade and industry, the Chamber of
Commerce and the Black Country
Consortium. The aim of the partnership
is to improve local regulatory delivery to
meet business needs. This partnership
has produced the Black Country
Regulators Operating Framework which
implements the requirements of the
Regulators Code, referred to in section
2.6 above.

• Wolverhampton Business Solutions
Centre
• The Government Agency Intelligence
Network
• The West Midlands Regulatory
Services Partnership
With respect to liaison arrangements
with trade representatives the service
can organise periodic food focus groups
or forums and attend and support local
trade groups when required.

Page 47
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

31

Resources

6
Resources
Financial Allocation
As with all areas of service the allocation
of resources is undertaken in
accordance with the agreed Medium
Term Financial Strategy for the Council.
Food enforcement work benefits from
the overall senior management resource
provided through the Place Directorate.
This area of activity also benefits from
central support services recharged
through internal service level
agreements.
The overall budgetary provision for the
service is £1.9 million. A wide range of
other non-food related services are
delivered within this budgetary provision.
Provision for food hygiene and
standards is currently £400,000 but as
previously stated is subject to on-going
review.

The services resourced through this
budgetary provision are not confined to
food related matters and include:
• Food Hygiene
• Infectious Disease investigation and
control
• Food Standards
• Sampling
• Health and Safety
• Public Health (relating to commercial
businesses, i.e. nuisance, noise,
damage, etc)
• Central Support Services
• Licensing Enforcement
• City Centre compliance and
regulation
• Street Scene Compliance
• Student Training
As feeding stuffs enforcement activity is
carried out as part of comprehensive
Trading Standards duties it is not
possible to accurately cost, but it will
amount to less than 0.5% of the total
budget for Trading Standards.

Page 48
32 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Resources

A detailed analysis of the proportion of
the supervisory and operational time
dedicated to food safety is contained in
the following table, and the structure of
Business Services (Commercial) shown
below.

Staffing Allocation
The strategic financial, human and
service functions are undertaken
through the Business Services Services
Management Team.

Post

% Food Safety

FTE

Head of Service (x1)

5%

0.05

Section Leader North (x0.8)

75%

0.6

Section Leader South (x1)

10%

0.1

District/Senior EHO (8.45)

80%

6.76

Total Full Time Equivalent (FTE)

7.51

## - This officer undertakes the authorities ‘Food Lead’ role.

Page 49
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

33

Resources

The current structural chart for the service is shown below:

Colin Parr
Head of
Business Services

Emma Caddick

Paul Dosanj

Food and
Consumer Safety

Tranding
Standards

Senior Officers

Shaun Walker

Environmental
Crime

Environmental
Protection

Senior Officers

Senior Officer

Senior Officers

Nicola Biddle 0.6

Linda Fletcher 0.86

Suzanne Hill 1.0

Dean Gooch 1.0

Susan Bellongham 1.0

Alison Stephens 0.5

Martin Dye 1.0

Lee Jenks 1.0

Sarah Gee 1.0

Kayleigh Hitchcox 1.0

Stefan Polatajko 1.0

Charlotte Rose 1.0

Martin Giles 1.0

Faye Roach 0.8
Emily Fellows 0.6

City Centre

Susan White

Senior Officers

Mirabel Ajah 1.0
Emma Waites 0.8

Will Humpries

Vicky Barlow 0.65

Vacant* 1.0

Rebecca ChambersBarid 0.6
Joanna Moulding 1.0

District
Officers

District
Officers

District
Officers

District
Officers

District
Officers

Rita Braham 1.0

Gurdip Gill 1.0

Christopher Eley 1.0

Heather Dunn 1.0

Alex Hyatt 1.0

Andrew Johnson 1.0

Dianne Slack 1.0

Debra Craner 1.0

Thomas Hawkins 1.0

Phillip Richards 1.0

Lisa Marie
Anderson 1.0
Micheal Briscoe 1.0

Compliance
Officers

* Illicit Tobacco Lead

Compliance
Officers

Compliance
Officers

Lucy Kendall 0.6

Ian Crutchley 1.0

Marise Astley 1.0

Vacant 1.0

Laura Wallace 1.0

Zoe Brennan 1.0

Vacant 0.6

Martin Lewis 1.0

Vacant 0.6

James Noott 1.0

Vacant 1.0 (12mth FTC)

Joanna Thomson 1.0

Vacant 0.5 (6mth FTC)

To be recruited from within structure

Page 50
34 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Resources

Competency

Staff Development

The service operates a strict regime of
supervision and assessment prior to the
delegation of responsibility to officers,
which is in accordance with the relevant
FSA Food Law Code of Practice.

As part of the Council's aim to provide
services efficiently and effectively, an
annual appraisal will take place with
officers. As part of the appraisal process
officers development needs will be
examined to ensure they are trained to a
level of competence appropriate to their
work. The Food Law Code of Practice
requires all officers involved in
undertaking official controls to obtain a
minimum of 20 hours CPD per year. 10
of which must be on core food matters
directly related to the delivery of official
controls. There are different ways
officers will obtain this training. These
include:

Service Lead and Senior Officer posts,
would normally be individuals with full
delegated powers under the various
statutes within the service’s sphere of
responsibility.
The Food Law Code of Practice requires
that authorised officers demonstrate that
that they are competent to carry out
their functions prior to being authorised.
Officers are therefore required to
complete a competency assessment
with the Food Service Lead within 3
months of commencing their role. This
assessment should be reviewed at least
annually.
Officers with less than six months post
qualification experience are subject to
regular checking, monitoring and
accompanied visits in accordance with
the FSA Food Law Code of Practice and
partake in regular intervention reflections
with other officers.
All officers are subject to one formal
monitoring visit per year.

• Internal and external training
courses/events
• Cascade training delivered by officers
who themselves have attended
training
• Individual interviews
• Divisional meetings and briefings –
used to disseminate information etc
• Attendance at ad hoc working groups
• "On the Job" training – as part of the
delegation process

Page 51
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

35

Resources

• Self-training – suitable journals and
up to date information are provided
• Establishment of trainee/student
placements
• Placement with other services or
teams for training purposes and
special projects

The service will ensure staff participate in
any regional food standardisation
exercise and in any organised in-house.
There will also be opportunities for
members of the division to attend oneoff seminars on topical issues arising
during the year. Staff attending these
seminars are required to present a
feedback session at the next available
service meeting where it is deemed
appropriate.

Page 52
36 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Quality Assessment

7
Quality Assessment
Various monitoring techniques are used
in order to assess officer performance
against set criteria, including the FSA
‘Standard’, and all other external
standards established by various Codes
of Practice and BIS/BRDO guidance
etc. For example:
• Internal audit
• Accompanied visits
• West Midlands Food Liaison Group
• Inspection monitoring
• Correspondence checking/file review
• Standardisation exercises
• Quarterly review of the Work
Programme
• FSA audit
An annual review of requirements set out
in the ‘Standard’ shall also form part of
the Service Work Programme.

Page 53
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Food Service Plan 2018

37

Performance Management and Review | Regulatory and Invesigatory Powers Act

8
Performance Management and Review
All areas of Council Service are subject
to service planning and performance
measurement and review. This is
managed through work programmes,
service plans, corporate strategies and
financial planning, etc.
Performance against performance
indicators is subject to regular reviews
reported to the Service Director for City
Environment. Similarly, there is on-going
monitoring of the deployment of financial
resources against budgetary provision,
again reviewed on a monthly basis.

In addition, there is external review of
performance through the Audit
Commission, External Audit and
statutory returns such as those to the
Food Standards Agency (FSA).
Any areas for improvement identified as
requiring action will be detailed as part
of the review process. These will be
addressed by the Business Services
Management Team as part of the review
process and action taken shall range
from immediate action to inclusion in the
Service Plan for future years.

The monitoring of performance against
Service Plans has been discussed earlier
in this document; it involves Service
Directors, Head of Service, Service Lead
Officers and employee groups.

9
Regulatory and Investigatory Powers Act
The service has fully implemented the
requirements for the authorisation of
officers and surveillance in the required
circumstances.

Page 54
38 City of Wolverhampton Council

wolverhampton.gov.uk

You can get this information in large print, braille,
audio or in another language by calling 01902 551155

wolverhampton.gov.uk 01902 551155
Wolverhampton_Today

@WolvesCouncil

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Page 55

WCC 1688 05.18

WolverhamptonToday

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 6

Cabinet (Resources) Panel
19 June 2018
Report title

Restoration of Pennfields and Tettenhall war
memorials

Decision designation

AMBER

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor John Reynolds
City Economy

Corporate Plan priority

Place - Stronger Economy

Key decision

Yes

In forward plan

Yes

Wards affected

Graiseley; Tettenhall Regis

Accountable Director

Tim Johnson

Originating service

City Planning

Accountable employee

Jon Beesley
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Directorate Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

Historic Environment Officer
01902 555622
Jon.beesley@wolverhampton.gov.uk
5 June 2018
21 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:
The Cabinet (Resources) Panel is recommended to:
1. Approve that the Council act as the accountable body on behalf of two local community
interest groups, to facilitate the repair of the Pennfields and Tettenhall war memorials.
2. Approve the establishment of a capital budget of £20,000 for the repair of Pennfields war
memorial, which is to be funded by an external grant from the War Memorials Trust and
contributions raised by the Bradmore War Memorial Fund community group.
3. Approve the establishment of a capital budget of £20,000 for the repair of Tettenhall war
memorial, which is to be funded by an external grant from the War Memorials Trust and
contributions raised by the Tettenhall War Memorial Committee community group.

Page 57

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To mark the centenary of the First World War, two local resident groups are proposing to
restore their local war memorials in Church Road, Pennfields and in the churchyard of St.
Michael and All Angels in Tettenhall.

1.2

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Council to act as the accountable
body for the two local community groups, to facilitate the restoration of the war
memorials. The repairs will be funded through external grants from the War Memorials
Trust (WMT) and contributions raised by Bradmore War Memorial Fund and Tettenhall
War Memorial Committee local community groups.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Pennfields, Bradmore and Merry Hill war memorial (Pennfields war memorial) is
situated within ornamental gardens in Church Road, opposite St. Philip’s church. The
war memorial comprises a granite figure of a soldier holding a rifle, mounted on a
rusticated granite plinth. The names of the fallen are recorded on inset panels around
the plinth. The memorial has recently been added to the statutory list of buildings of
special architectural or historic interest as a grade ll listing. The war memorial and
gardens are also within the St. Philip’s (Pennfields) Conservation Area.

2.2

An inspection of the war memorial has been carried out by a conservation-accredited
structural engineer and a report has been prepared. The engineer has identified
movement within the granite plinth, which is resulting in damage to the stonework. The
bayonet and a section of the fore stock and barrel of the figure’s rifle are also missing.
The engineer’s report will form the basis of the specification for the repair of the
memorial. The proposed works, that are eligible for grant aid from the WMT, will include
stabilising the movement within the plinth; replacing the missing parts of the rifle;
repairing damaged stonework; repointing of the joints and repainting of the names within
the panels.

2.3

The Tettenhall war memorial is situated within the churchyard of St. Michael and All
Angels, which is in the Tettenhall Greens Conservation Area. The memorial is a red
sandstone cross and shaft mounted on a plinth. The names of the fallen of both world
wars are recorded on inset panels around the plinth.

2.4

The war memorial was damaged by vandals several years ago, which resulted in
damage to the cross and a section of the shaft. A conservation-accredited architect has
been appointed to prepare a report on the condition of the memorial and to produce a
schedule of works for its restoration. The grant eligible works will include the
replacement of the damaged stone cross and shaft; the repair of damaged stonework
within the plinth and the repointing of the joints. Tettenhall War Memorial Committee also
intend to steam clean the memorial and to replace stone paving around the memorial,
which will not be eligible for grant aid. The cost of the additional works will be funded
entirely with contributions raised by the group.

Page 58

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.0

Progress, options, discussion

3.1

Both groups have been actively involved in fund raising activities, to secure their
contribution towards the cost of repairs to their respective war memorials.

3.2

The Council’s Historic Environment service has been providing advice and assistance to
both groups and will make the grant applications to the WMT on their behalf.

3.3

Responsibility for the maintenance of the Pennfields war memorial and gardens rests
with the Council, as it is on land within the Council’s property portfolio.

3.4

The projects at Pennfields and Tettenhall are part of an on-going program of restoration
and repair of Wolverhampton’s war memorials, which over the last few years has
included the memorials at Heathtown Park and Wednesfield and the Harris memorial in
St. Peter’s Gardens. Other current projects to mark the centenary of the armistice in
November 2018, include the restoration of the Oxford Street war memorial in Bilston and
the cleaning of the Cenotaph in St. Peter’s Gardens.

3.5

The proposals contained within this report will be funded by external grants and public
contributions. Based on initial expressions of interest for grant aid, the WMT has
confirmed that the proposals for both memorials are eligible for a grant of up to 75% of
the cost of the works. Bradmore War Memorial Fund and Tettenhall War Memorial
Committee have both confirmed that they will provide the 25% match funding for the
works to their respective memorials. Both groups have also confirmed that they will fund
the full cost of any additional works, that are not eligible for WMT grant aid.

4.0

Evaluation of alternative options

4.1

To mark the centenary of the First World War, an increased level of grant funding has
been made available for the restoration of local war memorials. The WMT awards grants
of up to 75% of the cost of eligible repairs, up to a maximum of £30,000.

4.2

In response to initial expressions of interest outlining the proposed repairs, the WMT has
invited the submission of grant applications for both memorials.

4.3

There are no other viable options for securing the restoration of the two memorials.

5.0

Reasons for decision:

5.1

The proposals present an opportunity to support the efforts of two local community
groups in restoring their local war memorials. The WMT grant will only be released on
completion of the works to their satisfaction and confirmation of final payment to the
nominated contractor. The community groups do not have sufficient funds to pay the full
cost of the repairs up front. Failure to act as accountable body on their behalf would
prevent the groups from being able to access the grant aid. The scope of works that
could be funded by both groups, without access to the grant aid, would be considerably
reduced.

Page 59

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0

Financial implications

6.1

This report seeks approval for the Council to act as the accountable body on behalf of
two local community interest groups, to facilitate the repair of the Pennfields and
Tettenhall war memorials. It is estimated that works at each site will not exceed £20,000
assuming grant of £15,000 can be secured from WMT with balances met by contributions
from Bradmore War Memorial Fund and Tettenhall War Memorial Committee. On this
basis approval is sought to establish capital budgets; £20,000 for Bradmore War
Memorial and £20,000 for Tettenhall War Memorial.

6.2

Three competitive tenders for the cost of the works to each memorial will be required for
the formal grant applications. On confirmation of offers of grant aid from the WMT and
payment from the community groups of the 25% match funding and the full cost of any
additional works, the contracts will be awarded and the works undertaken. Following
completion of the works and confirmation of payment of the final invoices, the WMT will
reimburse the Council, once satisfied that works have been carried out to their
satisfaction. The cost of professional fees and additional works not covered by the grant
will be agreed in advance and reimbursed by the community groups. Should either of the
bids to WMT be unsuccessful, any advance costs incurred by the Council, in preparing
the application will be reimbursed by the respective community group and the contract for
the works will not be awarded. It may then be necessary to consider a reduced schedule
of works to bring the scheme within the available budget.
[ES/06062018/N]

7.0

Legal implications

7.1

This is a contract / grant / representation matter. The Council must ensure the tender
process complies with the Council’s Contract Rules and that the appropriate parties enter
into a contract with the successful tenderer. It will also be necessary to ensure that any
necessary planning consents have been obtained.
[RB/15052018/U]

8.0

Equalities implications

8.1

The restoration of the war memorials will have no equalities implications. The Council’s
procurement process will be followed to ensure invited tenderers are treated in a fair and
equitable manner with access to all relevant and necessary information.

9.0

Environmental implications

9.1

The proposals referred to in this report will secure the restoration of the Tettenhall and
Pennfields war memorials. The Pennfields war memorial is a listed building. The
improvements will also enhance the appearance of the Tettenhall Greens and St. Philip’s
(Pennfields) Conservation Areas

Page 60

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.0

Human resources implications

10.1

The restoration of the war memorials will have no human resources implications.

11.0

Corporate landlord implications

11.1

The proposals referred to in this report will secure the restoration of the Pennfields war
memorial, which is on land within the Council’s property portfolio. Details of restoration
works to be provided to Corporate Landlord to update asset registers as required.

12.0

Schedule of background papers

12.1

There are no relevant background papers.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 7

Cabinet (Resources) Panel
19 June 2018
Report title

Schedule of Individual Executive Decision
Notices

Decision designation

AMBER

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

All

Key decision

No

In forward plan

No

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Kevin O’Keefe, Governance

Originating service

Democratic Support

Accountable employee(s)

Dereck Francis
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

N/A

Democratic Services Officer
01902 555835
dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for noting:
The Cabinet (Resources) Panel is asked to note the summary of open and exempt
individual executive decisions approved by the appropriate Cabinet Members following
consultation with the relevant employees.

Page 63

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Schedule of Individual Executive Decision Notices
Part 1 – Open Items
1. Corporate
Nil
2. People
Nil
3. Place
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor John
Director of
4 June 2018
Simon Lucas
01902 555618
Reynolds
Regeneration
Title and summary of decision
Growth Deal Funding Agreements
Approved the signing of the grant agreement with Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council, as
accountable body of the Growth Deal, and any other related legal documentation required to
secure the grant.
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor John
Director of
7 June 2018
Michele Ross
01902 554038
Reynolds and
Regeneration and
Councillor Hazel
Director of Public
Malcolm
Health
Title and summary of decision
Adoption of Hot Food Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document
Approved the Council’s response to the representations received on the draft Hot Food
Takeaway Supplementary Planning Document and the adoption of the document subject to
minor amendments.

Part 2 – Exempt Items
1. Corporate
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor Louise
Director of Finance
29 May 2018
Helen McGoulay
01902 553470
Miles
Title and summary of decision
Land and Property Investments Fund Award Grant
1. Approved a grant of £7,159,551 to Birmingham Institute of Contemporary Music
Performance.
2. Approved that the Council enter into all necessary legal agreements.

Page 64

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2. People
Nil
3. Place
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor Steve
Strategic Director for
20 April 2018
Steve Woodward
01902 554260
Evans
Place
Title and summary of decision
Renovation of Rakegate Renton Road Play Area
Awarded the contract for Renovation Rakegate Renton Play Area to Jack Moody Landscaping and
Civil Engineering Ltd of Hollybush Farm, Warstone Road, Wolverhampton, West Midlands WV10
7LX for a duration of three months from 9 April 2018 to 29 June 2018 for a total contract value of
£195,893.
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor Steve
Strategic Director for
4 June 2018
Laura Phillips
01902 558892
Evans
Place
Title and summary of decision
Award of Contract – Building Improvements Aldersley Leisure Village
Awarded the contract for Building Improvements Aldersley Leisure Village for a total contract
value of £372,224.70 to Speller Metcalfe Malvern Limited.
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor Peter
Director of
11 May 2018
Simon Lucas
01902 555618
Bilson
Regeneration
Title and summary of decision
Bilston Urban Village – Land Transfers
Approved the transfer of land identified on the plans accompanying the exempt report to the
Council.
Decision maker
In consultation with
Date Approved
Contact Officer
Councillor Peter
Managing Director and 8 June 2018
Alison Shannon
01902 554561
Bilson and Councillor Director of Finance
Louise Miles
Title and summary of decision
Loan to WV Living
1. Approved the terms of the loans to WV Living, including a return on investment
chargeable quarterly.
2. Approved the second loan to WV Living, to be issued in June 2018.

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No: 9

Document is Restricted

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No: 10

Document is Restricted

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No: 11

Document is Restricted

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No: 12

Document is Restricted

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

